TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of two parts. The first part contains 876 pages and consists of documents filed with the clerk, transcripts of pretrial and post-trial hearings, and two supplements. References to this portion of the record will be identified by volume number, followed by "R" and the appropriate page number.

The second part of the record contains 2022 pages and consists of transcripts from Appellant's trial, both guilt and penalty phases. References to this portion of the record will be identified by volume number followed by "T" and the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Pasco County grand jury returned an indictment on February 19, 1991, charging Appellant, Oscar Ray Bolin, Jr., with first degree murder in the December 5, 1986 death of Teri Lynn Matthews (I, R1-2). In 1992, Appellant was tried, convicted and sentenced to death for this homicide. On appeal this Court reversed Bolin's conviction because improper evidence had been admitted at his trial. See, Bolin v. State, 650 So. 2d 19 (Fla. 1995).

On remand, Circuit Judge William R. Webb presided over the proceedings. The State moved to have the alleged eyewitness, Philip Bolin, declared a court witness (I, R171). At a pretrial hearing held August 9, 1996, Judge Webb granted this motion over Appellant's objection (IV, R732). On the same day, the court commenced a Frye hearing on the reliability of the DNA evidence produced in this case, with testimony given by the defense expert, Dr. Aimee Bakken (IV, R743-99). Testimony by the prosecution's witnesses concerning reliability of the DNA evidence was continued until midway during the trial itself (IV, R737-8, 799).

Because of the notoriety which Appellant had received in the media, defense counsel requested individual voir dire of prospective jurors who had been exposed to pretrial publicity. His motion was first heard and denied at a pretrial hearing held December 18, 1995 (I, R24-6, IV, R609-11). The motion was renewed immediately prior to the beginning of jury selection based upon additional publicity immediately prior to trial (I,

R133-4, V, T25-9). An exhibit containing the newspaper articles was filed with the clerk (II, R351-6, XVII, T1360).

During the course of jury selection, defense counsel again unsuccessfully requested permission to individually voir dire jurors who admitted exposure to pretrial publicity (VI, T212). He challenged for cause six prospective jurors who had knowledge of the case because the court's limitation on voir dire kept him from learning the extent of their exposure (VI, T214). The judge denied the challenges for cause (VI, T214). Defense counsel was permitted to proffer the questions which he would have posed to the prospective jurors had he been allowed to question them outside the presence of the panel (VI, T244). After the defense had exhausted their peremptory strikes, counsel requested four additional peremptories and identified four jurors on the panel which he would strike based upon their exposure to pretrial publicity (VII, T342). The court denied the defense motion for additional strikes (VII, T344). Defense counsel moved unsuccessfully to strike the jury panel, citing violations of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, United States Constitution in denying him the ability to effectively examine the jurors about pretrial publicity (VII, T344). After the final juror was seated, counsel challenged this juror (Wade) for cause because of knowledge about the case (VII, T350). The court denied the challenge for cause as well as the defense request for an additional peremptory challenge to use on the prospective juror (VII, T350). After alternate jurors had been chosen, defense counsel renewed his

motion to strike the panel (VIII, T464-5). Before the jury was sworn, the motion was again renewed and defense counsel summarized the circumstances including the number of jurors exposed to pretrial publicity and the prejudice to Appellant (IX, T476-8). Before the penalty phase began, defense counsel once again unsuccessfully renewed his motion to strike based upon probable juror awareness from pretrial publicity of Bolin's prior death sentences (XXI, T1753).

During the State's opening statement, defense counsel moved for mistrial on two occasions because the prosecutor continually referred to Appellant by his family nickname, "Needles", and because the prosecutor misrepresented the testimony that would be given by defense expert witness, Dr. Bakken (IX, T507-8, 511-2). Defense counsel also objected and moved for mistrial on several occasions where the prosecutor referred (both indirectly and directly) to the fact that Appellant had a prior trial for this homicide (XI, T723-5, 733, 737-45, 750, XIII, T1050-1). The court gave a curative instruction to the jury and granted the defense a standing objection to identification of the prior proceeding (XI, T745). One of the motions for mistrial was taken under advisement (XI, T743), but eventually denied (XVI, T1342).

During the testimony of court witness Philip Bolin, defense counsel repeatedly objected to the overuse of leading questions in the prosecutor's examination (XI, T758, 759, XII, T816, 817, 834, 846, 889). He objected to the prosecutor's characterization of Philip Bolin's prior testimony as "truthful" (XI, T750). When

the State offered a letter purportedly from Appellant to Philip Bolin into evidence, defense counsel objected, saying that it may have been illegally seized (XII, T818-9, 821). The State replied that the letter had been provided in discovery before the 1992 trial and that no motion to suppress it had ever been filed (XII, T822). The court overruled the defense objection and motion for mistrial (XII, T828). Subsequently, the court also overruled defense counsel's objection to allowing the prosecutor to read the contents of the letter to the jury (XII, T830).

When defense investigator Rosalie Martinez was ejected from the courtroom, defense counsel moved for mistrial (XII, T813). Appellant made a pro se motion asking the trial judge to recuse himself and to have defense counsel discharged (XII, T814-5). See also, XV, T1210-3. These motions were denied (XII, T813, 815, XV, T1213). After Appellant was not permitted to confer with the defense investigator during a trial recess, defense counsel objected (XII, T851). The trial judge stated that he hadn't understood that Appellant wanted to confer with the investigator as well as counsel during the recess, but that he would have denied the request anyway (XII, T852).

During the continued portion of the Frye hearing, State witnesses Dr. Martin Tracey, David Walsh and Dr. Robin Cotton testified to the scientific reliability of the results obtained in the DNA testing by Cellmark Laboratories of a cutting from the homicide victim's pants (XIV, T1077 through XV, T1207). The court ruled that the DNA evidence met the Frye standard of

scientific reliability and stated that he would prepare an order detailing his findings (XV, T1209). This order was eventually prepared and filed on November 19, 1997 nunc pro tunc to August 12, 1996 (2d Supp., R873-6).

Defense counsel objected to allowing Sergeant Kling to testify that certain details about the homicide were withheld from the media because the testimony would be hearsay (XVI, T1328-30). The State argued that the business record exception to hearsay would permit Kling to testify that only the perpetrator or an eyewitness would know that the body was found wet and without shoes (XVI, T1329-33). Also, the State argued that the testimony would not be hearsay since Sergeant Kling would be testifying that he read all the newspaper articles and those details were not reported rather than testifying to what the media did report (XVI, T1334-6). The court overruled the defense objection and permitted the testimony (XVI, T1336).

After the State rested, the defense motion for judgment of acquittal was denied (XVI, T1341-2). Counsel's renewed motion for judgment of acquittal after the close of the defense case was also denied (XIX, T1965-6). A further renewed motion for judgment of acquittal after the conclusion of the State's rebuttal case was again denied (XIX, T1591).

Defense counsel interrupted the prosecutor's final closing argument with objections on six occasions (XX, T1689, 1695, 1697, 1698, 1705, 1706). At the finish of the argument, defense counsel moved for mistrial based upon 1) prosecutor interjecting

his personal opinion into the argument, and 2) prosecutor submitting his own mathematical calculations as evidence and argument, rather than relying upon the testimony of the expert DNA witnesses (XX, T1709-10). The judge denied the motion for mistrial (XX, T1710).

During the charge conference, defense counsel objected to instructing the jury on felony murder because there was insufficient evidence to support the State's theories of sexual battery and kidnapping as underlying felonies (XVII, T1357). The judge overruled the defense objection and gave instructions on first degree felony murder with either kidnapping or sexual battery as the predicate felony (XVII, T1357, XX, T1716-7). After the jury had been instructed, defense counsel renewed his objection to giving felony murder based upon the allegation of sexual battery (XX, T1734). The jury returned a general verdict of guilt of first degree murder as charged (XX, T1745, II, R384).

Before commencement of the penalty proceeding, defense counsel requested, in accordance with Dr. Berland's affidavit attesting to need, that a PET scan be performed on Appellant because brain damage was a mitigating circumstance to be presented to the jury (II, R357-8, XX, T1736-7, XXI, T1753-4). The State objected that the motion was untimely and would cause the penalty proceedings to be delayed (XX, T1742-3, XXI, T1755). The trial court denied the motion for a PET scan and then reaffirmed his ruling immediately prior to the beginning of the penalty trial (XX, T1743, XXI, T1755).

In the ensuing penalty trial, defense counsel unsuccessfully objected to allowing the detective from Ohio, Marlene Long, to testify to hearsay statements given by Bolin's co-defendant in the rape and kidnapping case (XXI, T1795, 1796). Multiple hearsay objections to allowing the Ohio jailer, Deputy Rick Luman, to testify about what detectives told him concerning their investigation of Bolin's attempted escape were also overruled (XXI, T1813-4).

Defense counsel requested three special instructions during the penalty charge conference which the court denied (XXI, T1921, II, 389, 392, III, 393). The jury returned a penalty recommendation of death (III, R402).

A hearing on Appellant's Motion for Arrest of Judgment/New Trial was incorporated into the sentencing proceeding held on September 25, 1996 (III, R551-74). The defense produced some additional evidence in mitigation (III, R553-60). The court allowed the defense to amend the motion for new trial before denying it (III, R426-30, 563-73).

On October 9, 1996, the court made findings and imposed a sentence of death (III, R499-508). The judge's written "Sentencing Order" was filed on the same date (III, R448-54). Four aggravating circumstances were found: 1) prior violent felony, 2) cold, calculated and premeditated, 3) heinous, atrocious or cruel, and 4) committed during the course of a kidnapping (III, R448-50, see Appendix). In mitigation, the court discussed the statutory mental mitigating factors and determined that Bolin had

"only minimal brain damage" (entitled to "moderate weight" as a nonstatutory mitigating factor) and "impaired, but not substantially impaired" capacity (entitled to "slight weight" as a nonstatutory mitigating factor (III, R451-2, see Appendix). Besides the above nonstatutory mitigating factors, six others were found and all were given little weight¹ (III, R453-4, see Appendix). The court found that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigation and ordered that Appellant be sentenced to death (III, R454, see Appendix).

An "Amended Notice of Appeal" was filed October 28, 1996 (III, R465). Jurisdiction lies in this Court pursuant to Article V, section 3(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(i).

¹These were: 1) organic brain damage, 2) abusive childhood, 3) deprived childhood, 6) behavior at trial, 7) rescued a woman from drowning, 8) employed at time of offense.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A) GUILT OR INNOCENCE PHASE

Around 10:00 a.m. on December 5, 1986, a passerby, Donald Ray Gibson, saw what he thought was a flock of turkeys close to Greenfield road in the Kent Groves area of Pasco County (IX, T529-30). He exited his vehicle to discover that the birds were buzzards, circling around a female body wrapped in a sheet (IX, T531). He did not touch the body, but observed that there were no shoes (IX, T531-2, 537). Truck tire tracks were leading to the body (IX, T532). He reported his discovery to the Pasco County Sheriff's Office (IX, T533). Gibson testified that he was friends with Philip Bolin who, at that time, lived right across the street from him and about one-half mile from where the body was found (IX, T541-2).

Deputy Robert Wood responded to the scene and observed the body of a young woman located ten to fifteen feet off the road (X, T554-5). She had head injuries, was wrapped in a sheet, and was fully clothed except for her shoes (X, 555). The deputy noted that the body was wet although it had not rained during the previous day (X, T556).

A crime scene technician, Roy Steven Corrigan, testified that he also thought it strange that the body was wet, while the surrounding area was dry (X, T564). The clothing he took into evidence consisted of a white sweater over a blue sweater, white slacks and nylon stockings (X, T564-5). No shoes were found (X, T564-5). He also collected a sheet wrapped around the victim

which bore the logo of St. Joseph's Hospital and the imprint 3-80 (X, T566-7).

Corporal Corrigan took photographs and made plaster casts of tire impressions which led to the body (X, T569-72). He described the tire tracks as being made by a "good size tire" (X, T571). The next day, he returned to make more casts from the tire tracks (X, T587). In his report, the technician referred to the tracks as having been made by a four wheel vehicle (X, T591). Later however, he realized that there was something strange about the tire impressions and reached the conclusion that a vehicle with dual wheels had left them (X, T563-4, 598). Had he thought at the time that a dual-wheeled vehicle was involved, he would have taken plaster casts of both tires in the set instead of only one (X, T599).

A witness who had been a design engineer with the Cooper Tire Company, identified the tread impression as having been made by a size 8.75 x 16.5 Cooper Super Roadmaster tire (X, T651-3). He said that this was an uncommon size, typically used on a 3/4 ton or larger vehicle (X, T654-6). From looking at the photographs and the casts, it was impossible for him to tell whether the tires were on a single or dual wheeled vehicle (X, T656-7).

Witness Gary McClelland testified that he and his girlfriend, Teri Matthews, had spent time together after work on December 4, 1986 and that she set out for her parents home about 2:00 a.m. (X, T609-11). He became concerned when she failed to telephone him as she customarily did after getting home (X,

T612). McClelland telephoned her mother sometime before noon on December 5th and learned that Matthews had never returned home from the previous night (X, T612). Becoming alarmed, he decided to drive along the route she would have taken home (X, T612-3). As he drove by the Land O'Lakes post office, he saw the red Honda owned by Matthews sitting in the parking lot (X, T613-5). The headlights were on and Teri Matthews' purse was on the front seat (X, T614).

McClelland then met with a police officer at the post office (X, T616, 626). Together they viewed a videotape made by a monitor in the post office lobby (X, T617, 628-9). McClelland identified Teri Matthews on the videotape (X, T617-8, 629). A timing device on the videotape indicated that it was 2:40 a.m. when Matthews picked up mail from her family's post office box (X, 633, 637, 662-3).

Gary McClelland's father, Charles McClelland, was requested to go to the Medical Examiner's Office where he identified the body found by the roadside as being that of Teri Matthews (X, 624). The Medical Examiner, Edward Corcoran, M.D., testified that he conducted an autopsy on the body (XIII, T1020). He found five separate stab wounds, one of which hit her jugular vein in the neck (XIII, T1021). There were "at least fifteen lacerations and associated skull fractures in the head" (XIII, T1021). He characterized some other bruises and scrapes as defensive wounds (XIII, T1021). There was no indication of a sexual assault (XIII, T1042).

Dr. Corcoran further testified that the victim would have lost consciousness from the stab wound to the jugular vein "within several minutes" (XIII, T1043-4). A great amount of force was used in the blunt trauma to the head; any one of these head injuries could have resulted in loss of consciousness (XIII, 1038, 1043). Both the stab wound to the neck and the blunt trauma to the head were sufficient to cause death (XIII, T1022).

The police investigation of the homicide was unproductive until July 1990 when detectives visited Appellant's ex-wife, Sheryl Jo Haffner, in her hometown of Portland, Indiana (XIII, T1061-2). According to her prior testimony (read to the jury at the current trial), she and Bolin resided in Tampa during 1986 (XIII, T1061). She was in and out of hospitals including St. Joseph's Hospital during that year because of complications with diabetes (XIII, T1061). She often brought hospital property such as towels and blankets home with her (XIII, T1061). The hospital's name was frequently imprinted on the items (XIII, T1061).

Haffner's former testimony also included the fact that she and Appellant maintained a post office box at the Land O'Lakes post office where she received her social security checks when the couple traveled (XIII, T1063). On the day of the homicide, December 5, 1986, Bolin brought her social security check to Tampa General Hospital, where she was a patient (XIII, T1062-3).

At that time, according to Haffner, Appellant was residing in a travel trailer in the backyard of his parents home in Land O'Lakes (XIII, T1065). His twelve or thirteen-year-old brother

Philip resided in the house, approximately five hundred feet from the trailer (XIII, T1065). Bolin was employed by the Kahles company and drove a one ton wrecker (XIII, T1064).

Rosemary Kahles testified that she and her late husband had operated a towing business in Tampa during 1986 which employed fourteen to twenty workers and maintained twenty-one wreckers (XI, T675-7). As of December 4, 1986, Bolin had been on the payroll for less than six weeks (XI, T677). In the morning of that day, the towing service received a call to handle a disabled vehicle in Pasco County (XI, T678). The witness testified that Bolin "begged" to be allowed to respond to this call (XI, 679-80). After some hesitation because of Bolin's inexperience, the company agreed to send him out with a wrecker named 22 Bob (XI, T681). This was a large one ton truck with dual wheels on the rear (XI, 681-2).

Eventually, Bolin located the customer and performed the job (XI, T682-3). Sometime between noon and 1:00 p.m., he was instructed over the two-way radio to return to the Tampa facility (XI, T684). However, Bolin failed to return that day; nor did he respond to their efforts to contact him on the radio (XI, 684-5). After midnight, when the witness and her husband had retired for the night, the radio started "screeching" and Bolin was trying to contact them (XI, T686-7). Evidently, he was outside the fifty mile radius where the radio could transmit clearly and the witness could only understand that Bolin was in a panicked state

(XI, T688-90). She instructed Bolin to telephone her, but he didn't (XI, T688-90).

In the morning around 10 or 10:30, Bolin returned 22 Bob back to the towing facility (XI, T690-1). His personal appearance was messy and he was crying (XI, T691, 705). His only explanation was that he got lost (XI, T692). Although the witness' husband wanted to fire Bolin on the spot, he remained an employee (XI, T692-3). Later that afternoon, the television was on at the shop and there was a newscast about the discovery of Matthews' body (XI, T693). Bolin became highly excited and brought other employees into watch the news account (XI, T694).

The witness further testified that Bolin carried a knife on his hip and would "constantly play with it" (XI, T694-5). Before Bolin left on the service call on December 4, he was given a wooden stick, about two feet long and filled with lead at one end, to use to check the tires (XI, T696-7, 701). Although the towing business bought Cooper tires when tires needed replacement, the witness did not know what brand was on the 22 Bob wrecker (XI, T695-6, 700).

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