IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OSCAR RAY BOLIN, Jr.,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 89,385

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0445071
Westwood Center
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Boggs v. State, 667 So.2d 765, 766-67 (Fla. 1996)

Nevertheless, this Court in Boggs noted that in Pietri v. State, 644 So.2d 1347 (Fla. 1994), there was no error because Pietri's trial judge, like the trial judge in the instant case, readily excused prospective jurors who had heard about the case and formed an opinion. (V, T44, VI, T224) Additionally, in contrast to Boggs, none of the articles in the instant case contained any comments by the trial judge as to Bolin's guilt or defense. The trial court, in the instant case, did not abuse its discretion in denying individual voir dire.

Finally, the state asserts that section 924.051, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1996), which was created by the Criminal Appeal Reform Act of 1996 (ch. 96-248, §4, at 954, Laws of Fla.) applies. Section 924.051 became effective on July 1, 1996. Appellant was not tried until August 12, 1996 and was not sentenced until October 9, 1996. (III, R499-508, V, T1) The statute provides that the *party challenging the judgment or order of the trial court has the burden of demonstrating that a prejudicial error occurred in the trial court and precludes review unless a prejudicial error is alleged and is properly preserved or, if not properly preserved, would constitute fundamental error.* Amendments to the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 685 So.2d 773 (Fla. 1996) (on reh'g). Given that the jurors, in the instant case, were examined by the court, prosecutor and defense counsel on the issue, and yet no evidence that the challenged jurors should have been excused for cause or that any unfit juror actually sat or that any prejudice resulted, appellant has failed to carry his burden show harmful error. §924.051 Fla. Stat. (1996). Accordingly, this claim should be denied.

ISSUE II

**WHETHER IT WAS REVERSIBLE ERROR FOR THE STATE
TO INTRODUCE PRIOR STATEMENTS DURING THE
STATE'S EXAMINATION OF PHILLIP BOLIN.**

Phillip Bolin testified at appellant's original trial as an eyewitness to the murder of Teri Lynn Matthews. In 1996, after this Court remanded the cause for a new trial, Phillip wrote the following letter recanting his prior trial testimony:¹

To Whom it May Concern:
I, Phillip Neal Bolin, is making this statement on this date because I can know longer let the truth not be known of the incident that ocured on 12-5-86 reference Terry Lynn Matthews. I was told to and was coerced into making false statements reference my brother, Oscar Ray Bolin Jr. by his ex-wife Cheryl Jo Colby. The events I testified to under oath both in my depositions and trial testimony are not true I wish to make this wrong right. I am making this hand written statement in order to preserve the integrity of this recantation. I wish to have this statement sworn to befor two witness. I am not under duress, coercion, drugs or alcohol. This statement is the truth and all previous statement are void I understand that this statment is subject to examinations. I affirm and swear this statment to be the truth in fait. I have in no way any information regarding this homocide (Matthews) or any other involving Oscar Ray Bolin, Jr.

Phillip Bolin
1-20-96

(I R86)

Prior to the instant trial, the state filed a motion requesting that appellant's half brother, Phillip Bolin, be made a

¹ Errors in the original.

court witness. (II R171) Phillip Bolin had previously testified before the grand jury, in a deposition and in the 1992 trial. At the hearing on the motion, the prosecutor asked the court to make Phillip Bolin a court witness, based on his recantation, subsequent conflicting statements, his opposition to being called as a witness against his brother and the fact that he was an eyewitness to the crime. (IV T728) The court granted the motion and called Phillip Bolin as a court witness. (II R337, IV R732).

The calling of a witness as a court witness is appropriate when a party is unable to vouch for its witness's credibility, yet the witness's testimony is so important that the interests of justice demand a vehicle to present the evidence to the jury. §90.615, Fla. Stat.; Shere v. State, 579 So.2d 86 (Fla. 1991); State v. Smith, 573 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1990). It is a very narrow exception to the rules generally governing witness interrogation, and should only be applied to witnesses that were actually eyewitnesses to the crime being tried. Shere, 579 So.2d at 92; Jackson v. State, 498 So.2d 906, 909 (Fla. 1986). The Florida Evidence Code specifically allows "all parties" to cross-examine a court witness and notes that ordinarily, leading questions should be permitted on cross-examination. §§ 90.612(3) and 90.615(1) Fla. Stat. (1995)

While appellant concedes that cross-examination of a court witness is permissible, he contends that "the prosecutor went too

far when he continuously read Phillip Bolin's prior statements to the jury under the guise of impeachment or refreshing the memory of the witness." Appellant also concedes, however, that trial counsel's primary objection below to the form of the examination was "leading questions." (XI, T758, 759; XII, T816-17, 834, 846, 889) He did not object on the basis now being asserted nor did he request a limiting instruction. Nevertheless, appellant contends that his objection to leading questions was sufficient to put the trial court on notice that the prosecutor's procedure was improper.

Absent fundamental error, an issue will not be considered for the first time on appeal. Farinas v. State, 569 So.2d 425, 429 (Fla. 1990); Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978). Fundamental error must rise to the level of a denial of due process where "the interests of justice present a compelling demand for its application." Downs v. State, 572 So.2d 895, 900 (Fla. 1990), quoting, Ray v. State, 403 So.2d 956, 960 (Fla. 1981). The impeachment of Phillip Bolin did not constitute fundamental error. Farinas.

Further, a general objection on other grounds is not sufficient to preserve this claim. An objection must be made with sufficient specificity to apprise trial court of the potential error in order to preserve issue for appeal. Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 639, 641 (Fla. 1982). As appellant's complaint that the prosecutor improperly impeached Phillip Bolin with his prior

statements was not presented to the court with sufficient specificity, the issue must be considered waived. Farinas; Jones v. State, 652 So.2d 346, 352 (Fla. 1995), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 875 (1995); Davis v. State, 461 So.2d 67, 71 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, 473 U.S. 913, 105 S.Ct. 3540, 87 L.Ed.2d 663 (1985).

Moreover, even if this claim was not barred, it is without merit. In general a prior statement may be introduced as a prior inconsistent statement to impeach a witness (§90.608) or to refresh the recollection of a testifying witness (§90.613). Florida Statutes §90.614 provides for the method to be used in order to properly impeach a witness with a prior inconsistent statement:

(1) When a witness is examined concerning his prior writing statement or concerning an oral statement that has been reduced to writing, the court, on motion of the adverse party, shall order the statement to be shown to the witness or its contents disclosed to him.

(2) Extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is inadmissible unless the witness is first afforded an opportunity to explain or deny the prior statement and the opposing party is afforded an opportunity to interrogate him on it, or the interests of justice otherwise require. If a witness denies making or does not distinctly admit that he has de the prior inconsistent statement, extrinsic evidence of such statement is admissible. This subsection is not applicable to admissions of a party-opponent as defined in §90.803(18).

This procedure was used in the instant case, without an objection by the defense.

In a virtually identical case, Freeman v. State, 547 So.2d 125 (Fla. 1989), this Court rejected the contention that the trial court erred by declaring the defendant's half-brother a hostile witness and by permitting the state to impeach and bolster his testimony with prior consistent statements.

In his third and fourth points, Freeman argues that the trial court erred by declaring his stepbrother a hostile witness and by permitting the state to impeach him with prior inconsistent statements and bolster his testimony with prior consistent statements. On direct examination, the stepbrother stated that he made his earlier sworn statements under pressure by the state attorney's office and implied that his statements were not true. The trial judge became so concerned about the exchange between counsel and the witness that he suggested the witness should have the advice of independent counsel before proceeding since he faced possible perjury charges. **We believe the record indicates that the stepbrother was being both difficult and recalcitrant in responding to inquiry. We find the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in declaring the stepbrother a hostile witness. This record reflects more than a mere lapse of memory** and, consequently, our decision in Jackson v. State, 451 So.2d 458 (Fla.1984), is inapplicable to these circumstances. Further, we find that the state, on redirect, did not improperly use the prior statements.

Id. at 128 (emphasis added)

In the instant case, as in Freeman, Oscar Ray Bolin's brother, Phillip, stated that he made his earlier sworn statements under pressure by the State Attorney's Office and maintained that the statements were not true. Similarly, Phillip was being 'both

difficult and recalcitrant in responding to inquiry and his responses indicated more than a mere lapse of memory.' As an eyewitness to the murder, Phillip Bolin's obvious and stated reluctance to testify against his brother, coupled with his recantation and other statements that conflicted with his sworn trial and grand jury testimony (as well as other sworn statements) supports the trial court's declaring him a court witness. (IV, 728; XI, T754)

Nevertheless, relying on this Court's opinion in Morton v. State, 689 So.2d 259 (Fla. 1997), appellant asserts that it was error to do so because the prosecutor's sole purpose in calling the witness was to present Phillip Bolin's prior inconsistent statements. Contrary to appellant's assertion, Phillip Bolin was not called as a court witness simply as a vehicle for the state to introduce his prior inconsistent statements. Given the difficulty the state encountered in actually obtaining Phillip as a witness, the state could have simply come into court, as it did with the testimony of the now deceased Sheryl Jo Haffner (Colby), assert that Phillip was unavailable and request that his prior trial testimony be introduced as substantive evidence. Jackson v. State, 575 So.2d 181, 187 (Fla. 1991); Section 90.804(1)(e). The state, however, diligently sought and procured Phillip Bolin's presence at trial.² One can assume nothing more from that than the state was

² The prosecutor told the court that the state had not been able to locate Phillip, that Bolin's family had refused to cooperate in

seeking to put the truth before the jury. In order to accomplish this goal, the state correctly sought and obtained the court's ruling making Phillip Bolin a court witness.

Furthermore, Morton is readily distinguishable on its facts. At Morton's trial, *the State called as witnesses Morton's friends and sister.* This Court found that "the prosecutor obviously was hoping to elicit through the witnesses' testimony the same information that they had given in their earlier statements." Id. at 259 Unlike Phillip Bolin, who had completely disavowed his former testimony, the witnesses called by the state to testify against Morton had mere lapses in memory and, consequently, whenever the prosecutor believed that a given witness's response did not sufficiently track the prior statement that the witness had made, the prosecutor would read the applicable portion of the prior statement and ask the witness if it refreshed his or her memory.

In the instant case, when Phillip Bolin took the stand, after having written a letter of recantation, he initially rejected his prior testimony. He denied that he was at home the night the murder happened and claimed that he was staying at his neighbors, the Canard's. When presented with his prior testimony, he stated, "I said what you wanted me to say, sir." (XI, T732) This is a

obtaining Phillip's attendance at trial and that it was finally secured by obtaining a Kentucky court order, ordering Phillip to attend the Florida hearing. (I, R171, IV, 728)

far cry from the "nit-picking" and lapses in memory that concerned this Court in Morton.

Nevertheless, after getting over the initial hurdle of being compelled to testify against his brother contrary to the demands of his family³ and after being confronted with his prior trial testimony, he ultimately testified consistently with his prior trial testimony. (XI T734-59, 761, 763, 764, 765, 775, 779; XII, T816, 902). Then on cross-examination, Phillip consistently reaffirmed his prior trial testimony, despite defense counsel's repeated attempts to impeach him with prior statements. (XII, T 853, 858-59, 861-72, 878-83) On redirect, after again implicating appellant in the crime, Phillip agreed that there was absolutely no doubt in his own mind that he witnessed his brother kill the female and load her with his help into the wrecker. (XII, T 902) Moreover, Phillip Bolin, unlike the witnesses in Morton was not the state's witness. Rather, he was called as a court witness and, is, therefore, subject to cross-examination as any other witness. Accordingly, the prior statements were properly admitted.

Additionally, appellant asserts that the prosecutor attempted to impeach Phillip, not with his prior statements, but "from the scenario which the prosecutor hoped to present to the jury." To

³ Phillip Bolin testified that he had been pressured by his brother, his father and Rosalie Martinez to not testify against Bolin. (XII, T 897-90) The state also introduced a letter from Oscar Ray Bolin to Phillip Bolin urging him not to testify. (XII, T 830)

support this proposition he quotes the following passage from the record:

Q. Tell me what you remember his explanation of how the girl got killed.

A. He said he met her and that he was going to do a drug deal and she got shot.

Q. He actually told you that she had come to Tampa to get him to do a drug deal with her, that she came down in her car and he followed her in the wrecker and that they parked at the Land O'Lakes Post Office and that they walked across the road where there's a ball field, then there was some shooting, he ran across the road and she got shot in the car, he picked her up, put her in the wrecker and came back to his place, right?

* * *

Q. Philip, did you understand that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Is that what ... Oscar Ray Bolin told you after he loaded her up in the wrecker?

A. Yes.

Brief of Appellant, pgs. 64-65, quoting Volume XII, pgs 816-7

Appellant's argument overlooks the fact that Phillip Bolin was a court witness. Accordingly, as previously noted, the state was properly allowed to ask leading questions. The foregoing passage, as well as many of the other passages challenged by appellant, is not an improper introduction of a prior statement but, rather, proper examination of a court witness by the use of leading questions.

Finally, appellant quotes extensively from the record, taking several excerpts out of context, and urges that these portions of Phillip's testimony alone constitute error. Phillip Bolin testified extensively. The trial transcript of his testimony encompasses almost 200 pages. (XI-XII, T715-905) During the course of this testimony Phillip Bolin changed his testimony from outright denials of his prior statements to complete agreement with his prior statements and trial testimony. When Phillip Bolin's testimony is reviewed in its entirety and the responses put in context, appellant has failed to show that harmful or fundamental error occurred. Accordingly, as this claim is procedurally barred, meritless and harmless, the state urges this Court to deny relief.

ISSUE III

**WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING
APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL AFTER THE
PROSECUTOR MENTIONED BOLIN'S FIRST TRIAL IN
THE PRESENCE OF THE JURY.**

During the examination and attempted impeachment of court witness Phillip Bolin, the prosecutor referred Bolin to his prior trial testimony. (XI, T723) Specifically, the record shows the following exchange:

Q. Then do you remember after that in October of 1992 actually being in a courtroom and offering testimony? Remember in October of 1992 being there, being asked questions by the prosecutor, myself, and an attorney representing your brother?

MR. LIVERMORE: Your Honor, at this time we would object. Request a conference.

THE COURT: All right. Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, it's going to be necessary for me to address a matter outside your presence. I anticipate that it will be very brief; therefore, I ask that you accompany Mr. Nelson to the jury deliberation room.

JURY OUT

BAILIFF NELSON: Jury is in the deliberation room, your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Livermore.

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